THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Master-in-Equity

The Honorable Joseph E. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2012-213558

SCBT, N.A

Respondents

v.

Sand Dollar 31, LLC; Rhonda
Meisner, of whom Rhonda
Meisner is

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Rhonda Meisner, Appellant
Post Office Box 689
Blythewood, South Carolina 29106
(803) 960-3696
pegasus@nuvox.net

Jason Wyman, Esquire
Rogers, Townsend and Thomas, PC
220 Executive Center Drive
Columbia, South Carolina 29210
(803)771-7000
Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED

OCT 23 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1.) DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION TO ALTER AND AMEND THE JUDGMENT?

- 2.) ARE RESPONDENTS JUDICIALLY ESTOPPED FROM VALUING THE PROPERTIES DIFFERENTLY THAN IN THE BANK'S MOTION TO VACATE THE JUDICIAL SALE?

- 3.) DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES WITHOUT A FILED AFFIDAVIT OR ITEMIZATION OF ATTORNEY'S FEES.

Background

This is an appeal of a personal judgment, the valuation of the properties subject to a mortgage foreclosure proceeding and the entry of the judgments into the public index in excess of the amount owed, including an appeal of the associated attorney's fees. The Defendant, Rhonda Meisner ("Meisner") was the guarantor of a mortgage loan that was initiated by Sand Dollar 31, LLC ("Sand Dollar") with SCBT, N.A. ("Bank"). Meisner is the single-member of the Sand Dollar Limited Liability Company. Sand Dollar subsequently defaulted on the loans and the Bank sought foreclosure of the properties securing the loans. The Bank filed a lis pendens on September 27, 2011 and subsequently filed a lawsuit seeking to foreclose on the properties. The Bank also named Meisner as a Defendant as she signed the Guaranty Agreement associated with the loans. Defendants Sand Dollar and Meisner answered the complaint by and through their attorney, Glenn Bowens. Meisner and Sand Dollar sought a declaratory judgment on whether both entities were entitled to appraisal rights pursuant to S.C. Code §29-3-680 and a declaratory judgment of the rights and liabilities of each of the parties under the note, mortgage and guaranty agreement and the amount of the deficiency judgment, if any. Defendants specifically preserved their rights to an appraisal and invoked the valuation protections of the Appraisal Statute in their Answer and Counterclaim. The Bank sought a deficiency against Sand Dollar and the enforcement of a guaranty agreement associated with the properties that were signed by Meisner. The foreclosure hearing was held April 25, 2012 and the Court ruled the evidence of the debt was sufficient and the foreclosure of the properties could proceed, but that both Sand Dollar and Meisner retained their appraisal rights according to the Appraisal Statute. The sale

was scheduled for June 4, 2012. Because the Bank had demanded a deficiency, the sales bidding process would remain open for 30 days and the deficiency sale was scheduled for July 5, 2012. Prior to sale of the properties and the completion of the appraisals, on May 16, 2012 the Bank entered judgment in the public roles for both Sand Dollar and Meisner indicating each entity was responsible for the entire amount the Bank demanded as payment for the sums owed. The properties were sold at the deficiency sale on July 5th, 2012 to South Carolina Operating Room Equipment, LLC (SCORE). After the sale of the properties, the Bank filed a motion to vacate the foreclosure sale, based on the fact that Meisner was the single member of SCORE, LLC and that Meisner in her individual capacity filed a certified petition as outlined in the Appraisal Statute for the valuation of the properties. The Bank named both Meisner and Sand Dollar as Defendants in the Motion to Vacate Judicial Sale, but did not name SCORE, LLC as a Defendant in the Motion to Vacate Judicial Sale. The Court scheduled a status conference for November 6, 2012 to hear the Motion to Vacate and to hear arguments on the memorandums regarding the Motion to Vacate which were previously submitted to the Court regarding the valuation of the properties. At the hearing, Judge Strickland apologized that due to the Presidential election there would not be a court reporter available to make a record. The parties agreed to proceed with the caveat that if necessary another hearing would be held to create a record. After an update on the submitted memorandums, the order to deny the Motion to Alter and Amend the Judgment was ruled on by the Court and recorded on November 6, 2012 effectively ruling on the outstanding issues of the Declaratory Judgment, the guaranty agreement, and the property valuation. A Notice of

Appeal was served on all parties and a copy provided to the Honorable Judge Joseph M. Strickland on December 6, 2012. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

South Carolina Bank and Trust, N.A. (Bank) by and through their attorney Teri Stomski, (Stomski) an attorney with the firm Rogers, Townsend and Thomas, PC initiated foreclosure proceedings against Sand Dollar 31, LLC (Sand Dollar) and sought to enforce a guaranty agreement signed by Rhonda Meisner (Meisner) by filing a lawsuit. The Bank filed the amended lis pendis against the properties on September 27, 2011. Glenn Bowens (Bowens) attorney for the Defendants' Sand Dollar and Meisner answered the lawsuit on January 19, 2012. In the Answer and Counterclaim, Defendants explicitly stated they would pursue appraisal rights under the Appraisal Statute, S.C. Code §29-3-760; requested the Court to reference the guaranty agreement attached to the lawsuit for the exact terms of the guaranty agreement and requested a Declaratory Judgment for the rights, responsibilities and obligations of each of the parties under the note, mortgage and guarantee agreement associated with the properties involved in the foreclosure. The foreclosure sale was held on April 25, 2012. Meisner testified that she brought one property current and submitted to the Court as evidence the payment receipt from the Bank in receipt of her payment. After hearing from both the Bank and Meisner, the Honorable Judge Joseph M. Strickland ruled the debt owed on both properties was confirmed and the properties could be sold at the foreclosure sale and instructed Stomski that the Bank should revise the prepared order to include a ruling that Sand Dollar and Meisner retained appraisal rights. On May 3, 2012 Kathy Clark, a paralegal with the Bank's attorneys' firm sent an email to Bowens and someone in the Master's office

identified as CorneliusS@rc.gov that included attachments which were the proposed orders and record of the hearings in both foreclosure cases. On May 17, 2012 the Bank sent an email to the attorney for the Defendants, Glenn Bowens, stating the hearing was held on April 25, 2012 and the scheduled foreclosure sale would proceed on June 4, 2012. On May 29, 2012 the Bank sent a letter directly to Sand Dollar and to Meisner indicating the hearing on April 25, 2012 occurred and a judgment was entered against Meisner and Sand Dollar on May 16, 2012. Meisner received the letter dated May 29, 2012 on June 6, 2012; however, attorney for Sand Dollar and Meisner, Glenn Bowens was not copied on the letter and did not receive a copy of the May 29, 2012 letter indicating the judgments had been filed in the public record. On June 7, 2012, Bowens filed a Motion to Alter and Amend the Order and Judgment filed by the Bank which included attorneys fees based on the letter and Form 4 judgments sent to Meisner. On July 4, 2012 Bowens sent a letter to the Court requesting to delay the deficiency sale for both properties scheduled for the next day, July 5, 2012, so that the Court could consider the Motion to Alter and Amend prior to conducting the sale. Stomski sent a letter to the Court via facsimile dated July 5, 2012 opposing the delay of the deficiency sale. The letter indicated her clients, the Bank, would be prejudiced by delaying the sale for any reason. The Court scheduled a conference call for the morning of July 5th between Stomski, Bowens and Judge Strickland to hear the respective arguments delaying the sale. The Court ruled the deficiency sale scheduled for later in the day on July 5, 2012 would proceed as scheduled. Kevin Knowell, (Knowell) an agent for South Carolina Operating Room Equipment, LLC (SCORE) was the successful bidder on behalf of SCORE, LLC on both properties. SCORE, LLC is a Limited Liability Company in good

standing with the Secretary of State's office and Rhonda Meisner (Meisner) is the single member of SCORE, LLC. Later in the day on July 5, 2012, but prior to the deadline in the Master of Equity's instruction on fulfilling the requirements of the sale, SCORE, LLC deposited the required 5% of the bid price in the second step of complying with the foreclosure sale as outlined in the Master's Order of Foreclosure and Sale; the first step being Knowell's bid on behalf of SCORE, LLC. On July 18, 2012, Bowens filed with the Court his memorandum in support of the Motion to Alter and Amend the judgment. The Court scheduled a hearing on July 18, 2012 to discuss the Motion to Alter and Amend filed by Bowens. Present at the hearing were Bowens, Stomski, Meisner, and Judge Strickland. During the hearing the Court asked the parties to brief their positions on the guaranty agreement and the application of the guaranty agreement to the deficiency amount. The Bank also requested the Court to consider a Motion to vacate the judicial sale and Stomski was directed to consult with her client and then file a formal motion if the Bank wanted to file a Motion to vacate the

Judicial sale. The Bank via Stomski sent a letter to Bowens providing the Affidavit of Attorney's fees. The Bank filed their return to the Motion to Alter and Amend on July 27, 2012. On July 30, 2012 Stomski filed a Motion to Vacate the Judicial sale on behalf of the Bank naming Meisner and Sand Dollar as Defendants but not including SCORE, LLC as a Defendant. Only July 31, 2012 Meisner filed a certified petition for appraisal for both properties sold at the deficiency sale on July 5, 2012 which complied with the time constraints associated with the instructions of the Appraisal Statute. On August 8, 2012 the Master's office filed the Report on Sale and Disbursements and Order of Confirmation of Sale. On August 10, Bowens filed a memorandum on the guaranty

agreement on behalf of Sand Dollar and Meisner. Meisner also filed a memorandum with the Court on the guaranty agreement. On August 30, 2012 the Bank filed a Motion to Vacate the Judicial sale naming Sand Dollar and Meisner as Defendants. On September 27, 2012 Rick Gleissner, Attorney for SCORE, LLC made an appearance in the case by filing a Notice of Appearance and noticing Plaintiff Bank via Stomski and Defendants Sand Dollar and Meisner via Bowens. On November 2, 2012 Defendants, Sand Dollar and Meisner via their attorney Glenn Bowens filed a memorandum on Judicial Estoppel and the Appraisal Statutes. At the hearing on November 6, 2012 Judge Strickland signed the order denying Defendants Sand Dollar and Meisner's Motion to Alter and Amend the Judgment entered in the public record by the Bank. The Motion to alter and amend the judgment was filed by Bowens on the Defendants' behalf earlier in the year on June 7, 2012. On November 8, 2012 Bowens wrote a letter to Judge Strickland outlining the outstanding issues with regard to the foreclosure cases as Judge Strickland had requested at the status conference on November 6, 2012. On November 7, 2012 Stomski sent a letter to Bowens enclosing the filed stamped copy of the order denying the Motion to alter and amend which Bowens received on November 10, 2012. The Notice of Appeal was filed and served on all parties on December 6, 2012. A copy of the Notice of Appeal was also sent to the Honorable Judge Joseph M. Strickland on December 6, 2012.

ARGUMENT

1)BECAUSE RESPONDENT FILED A PREMATURE AND INACCURATE FORM 4 JUDGMENT; RESPONDENT HAS CAUSED DUPLICATE JUDGMENTS TO BE FILED IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS IN VIOLATION OF THE SUPREME COURT RULES FOR ENTERING FORM 4 JUDGMENTS AND CONTRARY TO THE ORDER OF FORECLOSURE

Prior to the foreclosure hearing on April 25, 2012, the Bank and Defendants Sand Dollar and Meisners' attorney had agreed that the hearing on April 25, 2012 was only to discuss whether or not the foreclosure could proceed and the debt Sand Dollar, the only Defendant subject to the foreclosure proceeding owed to the Bank. **(R.p.62 lines 6-14)** The application of the Appraisal Statutes and the application of the Guaranty Agreement to the deficiency, if any, would be evaluated after the sale of the properties. **(R. p 87 lines 16-25)** Wendy Wolfson, Vice President of SCBT (Bank) testified to the debt and to the fact the bank paid attorney's fees to Stomski which is necessary to validate the debt to the Bank prior to initiating the foreclosure proceedings against Sand Dollar. However, her testimony was not sufficient to show how Meisner, in her individual capacity owed the identical debts to the Bank. **(R. p68 lines10-21)** Wolfson's testimony did not identify that Meisner signed the Guaranty Agreement in her individual capacity and not as a member of Sand Dollar. **(R. p69 lines 1-13)** The Guaranty Agreement itself does not designate Meisner's legal status on the form. **(R p.249)** The Form 4 was filed **prior** to the foreclosure sale, **prior** to the application of the appraisals and or the valuation of the properties by the Bank, and **prior** to the application of the Guaranty Agreement to the debts owed by Sand Dollar. **(R pp. 12-13)** Each of these separate applications of funds or credits would reduce the amount of the judgment to both Sand Dollar and Meisner. The Bank erroneously filed judgments against Sand Dollar and **contemporaneously** filed the same erroneous amounts of judgments against Meisner. **(R pp. 12-13)** These amounts

were in excess of the amounts identified in the Guaranty Agreement and conveyed to third parties that both Sand Dollar and Meisner owed **the identical debt** to the Bank **essentially doubling** the judgment amounts owed in the eyes of third parties viewing the public judgment roles. The instructions for filing the Form 4 were not followed **(R.pp.203-204)** and the Form 4 that was sent to Defendant was not signed by the judge.**(R. pp.201-202)** The Form 4 Order indicates that Sand Dollar and Meisner each owe \$63,734.92 (Civil Action #11-CP-40-6317) (Appellate Case #213558) and \$43,220.45 (Civil Action #11-CP-40-6318) (Appellate Case #213559). The Form 4 Order, is used to index the parties' name and amount of the judgment in the public record. Based on the instructions for the use of a Form 4 Order, the Plaintiff should not have filed the Form 4 Order. **(R.p.203 #4)** Instruction #2 provides: "The judge will review and sign Form 4C when he or she signs an order that includes judgment enrollment information for the judgment index." **(R.p. 203 #2)** The judge did not sign the Form 4 Order. **(R.p.202)** Instruction #10 provides:

When an Order of Foreclosure is filed, neither the parties nor the debt owed should be listed in the information for the Judgment Index Section, **unless the foreclosure order specifically requires** entry of the full judgment amount before the foreclosure sale, pursuant to Section §29-3-650 of the SC Code. **(R.pp. 14-20)** Instruction #12 provides: "...subsequent information, including deficiency judgments can be added after the case is over..."**(R p.204)**

The Foreclosure Order signed by the court did not specifically require entry of the full judgment amount before the foreclosure sale . The order stated in paragraph 33 that

the Order for Deficiency would be entered **after crediting** the proceeds of the sale, not the full judgment before the sale.(R.p.19 #33 line 6) The Bank ignored the order of the Court and entered the full judgment amounts against Sand Dollar and Meisner and entered identical amounts of debts owed to the Bank, thereby doubling the amounts owed. Moreover, counsel for the Bank knew when she filed the Form 4 Order that the sale and appraisal had not taken place and the amount recorded in the public record would be reduced. Making matters worse, counsel for the Plaintiff sent someone to the Foreclosure Sale to bid on the properties: \$25,000.00 on the Linden Street property and \$10,000.00 on the Winnsboro Road property, which meant she **absolutely knew** the amount recorded was **not the correct amount.** (R.p.260) The filing of the Form 4 Order gave the false impression that both Sand Dollar and Meisner owed \$63,734.92 and \$43,220.45 and became a lien **on all properties** owned by Sand Dollar and Meisner, **not just the ones subject** to the foreclosure actions. The Guaranty Agreement is a separate contract from the Mortgage Contract.(R.pp33-34)

The Form 4 should have never been filed as the application of the Appraisals and the guaranty agreements and the foreclosures themselves had not yet been completed. Additionally, by the time the Judge signed the order denying the Motion to Alter and Amend on November 6, 2012, the foreclosure sales **were complete** and the Bank was in possession of the funds received from the Court which were distributed from the sale of the properties which reduced the amounts of the debt at least by \$25,001 and \$10,501 respectively. Refusing to amend the amounts entered in the public roles via the Order of Judgment when this information was in front of the Court was clearly erroneous. Sand Dollar or Meisner **never** owed the amounts entered in judgment in the public index. This

is the very reason the Supreme Court issued the rules against entry of the order on Form 4, and why the Court should have required the Bank to remove erroneous entries based on the Order of Foreclosure and the Supreme Court rules. The judgments are not accurate and therefore they cannot be legal. Meisner is prejudiced by the entry of the judgments as the judgments affects title to other lands outside of the current action because it creates a lien on other properties owned by Meisner. This is the very reason the Supreme Court issued the rules for entering judgments in foreclosure cases. Meisner was not the Defendant to the foreclosure action, but a guarantor, until the amount determined to be owed by Meisner is decided, the erroneous amounts enrolled in the public roles should not be sanctioned by the Court.

2)BECAUSE RESPONDENTS FILED A MOTION TO VACATE THE JUDICIAL SALE; RESPONDENTS ARE JUDICIALLY ESTOPPED FROM VALUING THE PROPERTY LESS THAN THE VALUE CLAIMED IN THEIR MOTION TO VACATE THE SALE FOR A DEFICIENCY AGAINST APPELLANT.

Also by the time the Court signed the denial of the Motion to Alter and Amend on November 6, 2012, the Bank had admitted the value of the properties was the amount of their mortgage on each associated properties in their Motion to Vacate the Sale. **(R.P.262)** By naming Sand Dollar and Meisner in their Motion to Vacate the Sale, the Bank created a privities of parties or privities of interest in the valuation of the properties with SCORE, LLC which would not have existed had the Bank not named Sand Dollar and Meisner as Defendants in the Bank's Motion to Vacate the Judicial Sale. **(R.p.260)** By the time the Motion to Vacate the sale was filed by the Bank, the Judicial Sale was complete therefore extinguishing any legal or equitable rights that could be claimed by either Sand Dollar or Meisner. **(Rp.20 #36)** Naming both Meisner and Sand Dollar via

the Motion to Vacate the Sale created privities of interest between the three entities regarding the valuation opinion submitted by the Bank in the Motion to Vacate the Sale. The Bank's valuation of the properties, the limitations of the guaranty agreement, and the application of the funds received from the Judicial Sale effectively extinguished the liability of Meisner for any outstanding obligations of Sand Dollar regarding the foreclosure of the two properties involved.

Privities of Parties/Judicial Estoppel

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