THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 12 2019

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity

SC Court of Appeals

Case Nos. 2011-CP-40-6317 and 2011-CP-40-6318
Appellate Case No. 2018-000251

South State Bank.....Respondent,

v.

Sand Dollar 31, LLC; and Rhonda Meisner Defendants,

Of whom Rhonda Meisner is theAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

Sean M. Foerster (SC Bar # 77466)
ROGERS TOWNSEND & THOMAS, PC
1221 Main Street, 14th Floor (29201)
Post Office Box 100200
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-3200
(803) 771-7900
sean.foerster@rtt-law.com

Attorneys for Respondent South State Bank

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

ARGUMENT

The Court must affirm the Master's Orders entered on July 27, 2017, December 28, 2017, April 30, 2018, and July 19, 2018, for the following reasons:

I. Meisner's personal liability for the deficiency judgments is the law of the case and not reviewable by the Court.

The Court must disregard the approximately 13 pages of Meisner's appellate brief (pp. 12-25) dedicated to disputing the existence of her personal liability for the deficiency judgments under the guaranty agreements. That issue has been fully adjudicated and is the law of the case.

"It is well settled in this jurisdiction that a decision of this court on a former appeal is the law of the case." *Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 252 S.C. 353, 357, 166 S.E.2d 297, 299 (1969). "Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court." *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 571, 776 S.E.2d 397, 403 (Ct. App. 2015). "The law of the case applies both to those issues explicitly

decided and to those issues [that] were necessarily decided in the former [appeal].” *Id.* at 572, 776 S.E.2d at 403 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

“The policy behind the law of the case is to promote the finality and efficiency of the judicial process by protecting against the agitation of settled issues.” *Id.* at 573, 776 S.E.2d at 404 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

“After the remittitur is sent down from an appellate court, the trial court acquires jurisdiction to enforce the judgment and take any action consistent with the appellate court ruling.” *Ackerman v. McMillan*, 324 S.C. 440, 443, 477 S.E.2d 267, 268 (Ct. App. 1996)(internal citations omitted).

The Judgments of Foreclosure and Sale entered in both of these cases on May 16, 2012, concluded that Meisner signed personal guaranty agreements for each loan and was therefore personally liable for the debts in each case, including attorney’s fees. (R. p. 501 ¶ 11; R. p. 510 ¶ 11.) Accordingly, the Master entered personal judgments against her in both cases. (R. p. 503 ¶ 24; R. p. 513 ¶ 26; R. pp. 39-42.)

With the exception of the issue of the amount of attorney’s fees awarded, this Court affirmed the entry of the 2012 Judgments of Foreclosure and Sale and the Form 4 orders against her personally. Thereafter, her petitions to have the judgments reviewed by the higher courts were denied. Meisner has exhausted all of her appellate remedies with respect to those judgments.

Whether or not, as Meisner contends, the Master verbally agreed to hear Meisner on this issue sometime after the foreclosure sale does not make this issue reviewable by the Court because the Master did not put that agreement into a written order. *Ford v. State Ethics Comm’n*, 344 S.C. 642, 646, 545 S.E.2d 821, 823 (2001)(“Until written and entered, the trial judge retains

discretion to change his mind and amend his oral ruling accordingly. The written order is the trial judge's final order and as such constitutes the final judgment of the court."); *Doe v. Doe*, 324 S.C. 492, 501, 478 S.E.2d 854, 859 (Ct. App. 1996)("Judgments in general ... are not final until written and entered.").

Therefore, Meisner's personal liability under the guaranty agreements for the deficiency judgments is the law of the case, and the Court is precluded from reviewing that issue.

II. The Master did not err in holding that Respondent was not judicially estopped by any position taken in the motion to vacate the foreclosure sale after it was withdrawn.

The Master did not err in concluding that Respondent was not bound by any position taken in its Motion to Vacate Foreclosure Sale since the motion was voluntarily withdrawn before being ruled upon.

A. Standard of Review.

"A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity." *United States Bank Tr. Nat'l Ass'n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 373, 684 S.E.2d 199, 204 (Ct. App. 2009)(internal citations and quotations omitted.) "In an appeal from an action in equity, tried by a judge alone, we may find facts in accordance with our own view of the preponderance of the evidence." *Id.* "However, this broad scope of review does not require an appellate court to disregard the findings below or ignore the fact that the trial judge is in the better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses." *Id.* "Moreover, the appellant is not relieved of his burden of convincing the appellate court the trial judge committed error in his findings." *Id.*

B. Law and Discussion.

"Judicial estoppel is an equitable concept that prevents a litigant from asserting a position inconsistent with, or in conflict with, one the litigant has previously asserted in the same or

related proceeding.” *Cothran v. Brown*, 357 S.C. 210, 215, 592 S.E.2d 629, 631 (2004). South Carolina “formally adopted the doctrine of judicial estoppel as it relates to matters of fact, not law.” *Id.* “The doctrine of judicial estoppel is an equitable concept and should be applied sparingly, with clear regard for the facts of the particular case.” *Id.* at 216, 592 S.E.2d at 632.

“The following elements [are] necessary for the doctrine to apply: (1) two inconsistent positions taken by the same party or parties in privity with one another; (2) the positions must be taken in the same or related proceedings involving the same party or parties in privity with each other; (3) the party taking the position must have been successful in maintaining that position and have received some benefit; (4) the inconsistency must be part of an intentional effort to mislead the court; and (5) the two positions must be totally inconsistent.” *Id.* at 215-16, 592 S.E.2d at 632.

The evidence in this matter fails to satisfy any of these elements. The glaring flaw in Meisner’s judicial estoppel argument is that Respondent cannot be not bound by any position taken in a withdrawn motion. This Court has noted that “parties are judicially bound by their pleadings unless withdrawn, altered or stricken by amendment or otherwise.” *Gary v. Lowcountry Med. Transp., Inc.*, 424 S.C. 18, 22, 817 S.E.2d 291, 293-94 (Ct. App. 2018)(emphasis added). Respondent sees no reason why this same rule would not extend to motions practice.

Respondent withdrew its Motion to Vacate Foreclosure before the motion was ruled upon, and therefore Respondent is not judicially bound by any statements in the motion. Since the withdrawal of the Motion to Vacate Foreclosure Sale, Respondent has taken no position on the values of the properties. Instead, per Respondent’s stipulation that it would not oppose

Meisner's petition for an appraisal, it has deferred to the professional opinions of the designated appraisers and the impartial judgment of the Master as to those values.

Respondent was never successful on any position it took in the Motion to Vacate Foreclosure Sale because the Master never ruled on this motion before Respondent withdrew it. While Meisner argues that the motion was heard by the Master at a status conference and that Respondent should be bound by statements allegedly made at that conference, she concedes that the conference was not memorialized or recorded by a court reporter. (Appellant's Br. pp. 27, 30.) Bench conferences or off-the-record discussions that are not made part of the record are not preserved for review. *See York v. Conway Ford, Inc.*, 325 S.C. 170, 173, 480 S.E.2d 726, 728 (1997); *Solley v. Navy Fed. Credit Union, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 192, 213, 723 S.E.2d 597, 608 (Ct. App. 2012); *see also City of N. Charleston v. Gilliam*, 311 S.C. 252, 254, 428 S.E.2d 720, 721 (Ct. App. 1992) ("We take this opportunity to admonish the bar that evidentiary rulings made at sidebar conferences, pretrial hearings, and other in limine hearings without the presence of a court stenographer, must be reiterated from the record when the case is called for trial.").

Finally, there is no evidence in the record of any intentional effort by Respondent to mislead the Master.

For these reasons, the Court must affirm the Master's rejection of Meisner's judicial estoppel argument.

III. The Master did not err in his determination of the amount of the deficiency judgments against Meisner.

The Master did not err in his determination of the amount the deficiency judgments against Meisner for any of the reasons raised in her appeal.

A. Standard of Review.

"In an appeal from an action in equity, tried by a judge alone, we may find facts in

accordance with our own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Bell*, 385 S.C. at 373, 684 S.E.2d at 204. “However, this broad scope of review does not require an appellate court to disregard the findings below or ignore the fact that the trial judge is in the better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses.” *Id.* “Moreover, the appellant is not relieved of his burden of convincing the appellate court the trial judge committed error in his findings.” *Id.*

B. Law and Discussion.

Meisner disputes the Master’s determination of the deficiency judgment amounts on the following grounds: (1) judicial estoppel—that the Master should have found that Respondent was bound to its position as to the properties’ values in its withdrawn Motion to Vacate Foreclosure Sale; (2) that she is not personally liable for deficiency judgments because she did not sign the guaranty agreements in her “individual or personal capacity”; (3) that the deficiency judgments should not include attorney’s fees awarded to Respondent because Respondent failed to serve the affidavits in support of attorney’s fees two days in advance of the remand hearing on July 27, 2016; (4) that Respondent’s designation of its appraiser was untimely; and (5) that the appraisal of Eugene Garvin was outdated and not reflective of the fair market value of the two properties.

As to Meisner’s arguments based on judicial estoppel and the non-existence of her personal liability for the deficiency, *see supra* Argument sections I and II of this brief. As to her remaining arguments:

1. Timeliness of service of affidavits in support of award of reasonable attorney’s fees.

The requirement in Rule 6, SCRPC, that affidavits be served not later than two days prior to a motion hearing was inapplicable to the remand hearing. “When a motion is to be supported by affidavit, the affidavit shall be served with the motion; and, except as otherwise provided in

Rule 59(c), additional or opposing affidavits may be served not later than two days before the hearing, unless the court permits them to be served at some other time.” Rule 6(d), SCRCF (emphasis added). The remand hearing did not involve any motion by Respondent. The remand hearing was required by this Court in its opinion filed on December 3, 2014, in Appellate Case No. 2012-213558. To the extent that the Court holds this rule was applicable to the remand hearing, then Respondent contends the affidavits were timely under the court permission exception. The Master accepted the affidavits and entered judgments based on them, thus implicitly permitting the timing of their service.

Therefore, the Master did not err in including reasonable attorney’s fees in the deficiency judgments against Meisner.

2. Timeliness of Respondent’s designation of an appraiser.

“[W]ithin ten days after service of a copy of the order upon the judgment creditor or his attorney of record he shall designate to the clerk another appraiser...” S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-710 (emphasis added).

The first order in this case granting Meisner’s petition for an appraisal and ordering an appraisal of the property was entered on July 27, 2017. Plaintiff designated its appraiser by letter to the Master dated August 17, 2012—five years prior to this order. (Letter.) Further, it is clear on the face of the Order of July 27, 2017, that Plaintiff had already designated its appraiser before the entry of that order. (R. pp. 31-33.) Therefore, Plaintiff’s designation of its appraiser was timely as it was made well before ten days after service of a copy of the Order of July 27, 2017.

Therefore, Respondent timely designated its appraiser, and the Master did not err in relying on the opinion of that appraiser in determining the amount of the deficiency judgments against Meisner.

3. Age and accuracy of appraisals of Eugene Garvin.

According to the Return of Appraisers, Eugene Garvin appraised the 4824 Linden Street property on September 13, 2012, and Angela Buckley appraised it on September 14, 2012. Eugene Garvin appraised the 8391 Winnsboro Road property on September 17, 2012, and Angela Buckley appraised it on September 14, 2012. All four appraisals occurred a little over 2 months after the second foreclosure sale on July 5, 2012. In his letter of August 30, 2017, Eugene Garvin stated: "I stand by my opinion of value for both properties as of the effective date of my reports shown above." Based on his conversation with Angela Buckley, he was "convinced that she would concur that she also stands by her opinion of value of the properties as of the effective dates of her appraisals..." Neither Meisner nor Angela Buckley ever offered any evidence that Eugene Garvin had misrepresented Ms. Buckley's opinion or ever offered any different professional opinion as to the value of these two properties.

Given that the only professional opinion that the Master received in response to the Order of July 27, 2017, was the Return of Appraisers, and given that neither Meisner nor Angela Buckley ever presented the Master with any other professional opinion, the Master did not err in relying on the Return of Appraisers in determining the amount of the deficiency judgments against Meisner.

For all of these reasons, the Court must affirm the Master's determination of the deficiency judgment amounts.

IV. The Master did not abuse his discretion in denying Meisner’s motion to amend her pleadings to add new counterclaims four years after entry of the Judgments of Foreclosure and Sale.

The Master did not abuse his discretion in denying Meisner’s motion to amend her pleadings to assert new counterclaims because the motion was made after a final judgment on the claims in those pleadings.

A. Standard of Review.

“Courts have wide latitude in amending pleadings and, while this power should not be exercised indiscriminately or to surprise or prejudice an opposing party, the matter of allowing amendments is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *Hale v. Finn*, 388 S.C. 79, 87-88, 694 S.E.2d 51, 56 (Ct. App. 2010).

B. Law and Discussion.

“When a party wishes to amend a pleading after final judgment from a full trial on the merits, South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 15(b) applies.” *Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992). However, “[a]mendments under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 15(b) are allowed not to assert new claims, but rather to conform the pleadings to the evidence presented at trial.” *Id.*

The purpose of Meisner’s proposed amendment was to add new counterclaims against Respondent, not to cause her pleadings to conform to the evidence presented at the final foreclosure hearing on April 25, 2012. Therefore, her proposed amendment was not permitted by the rules.

Further, reopening the pleadings four years after judgment, and after an appeal from those judgments, would have been prejudicial to Respondent.

By focusing her argument in her appellate brief on the merits of her proposed counterclaim for abuse of process against Respondent, Meisner puts the cart before the horse. On a motion to amend, the court is concerned only with “procedural arguments, not arguments concerning the substance and merits of the counterclaims and/or defenses proposed.” *Collins v. Sigmon*, 299 S.C. 464, 466, 385 S.E.2d 835, 836 (1989). “It follows that the trial judge should generally not consider these substantive arguments at the mere amendment stage.” *Id.*

Meisner cites to no case law showing where a party was permitted to amend the pleadings to add new claims over four years after the entry of a final judgment on those pleadings and after the conclusion of an appeal from that judgment.

For these reasons, the Court must affirm the Master’s denial of Meisner’s motion to amend her pleadings.

V. The Master did not abuse his discretion in lifting the automatic stay to permit the filing of the Return of Appraisers with the Richland County Clerk of Court.

The Master did not abuse his discretion in lifting the automatic stay to permit the filing of the Return of Appraisers as required by statute and ordered by the Master prior to the appeal.

A. Standard of Review.

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